



---

# The Select Board Handbook

---





CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1.....pgs. 1-3

    Introduction

    Board History

CHAPTER 2.....pgs. 5-7

    Powers, Duties & Responsibilities

CHAPTER 3.....pgs. 9-10

    Awards, Proclamations & Events

CHAPTER 4.....pgs. 11-13

    Select Board Code of Conduct

CHAPTER 5.....pgs. 15-20

    Board Election of Officers, Employee Hiring & Appointments to Committees

CHAPTER 6.....pgs. 21-26

    Board Meetings & Hearing Procedures

CHAPTER 7.....pgs. 27-29

    Town Meetings

CHAPTER 8.....pg. 31

    Licenses & Permits

CHAPTER 9.....pgs. 33-34

    Alcohol Policy Summary

CHAPTER 10.....pgs. 35-36

    Regulation of Public & Private Ways, Parking & Public Utilities

APPENDIX.....pgs. 37-62

**Commented [HE1]:** Staff: please double check and, if necessary update the TOC page numbers after we finalize everything

*Published: March 2016*  
*Revised: March 2020*

# 1

## Introduction & Board History

---

This handbook is to serve as a resource for the Office of the Select Board, other officials and agencies of the Town of Arlington government, and the public by setting forth the Board's basic functions, policies, and procedures. Companion policies, including those pertaining to permits and licenses are codified elsewhere in the interests of allowing this handbook to be an efficient foundation for consistent, transparent, and effective Board administration. In short, this document provides:

- Reference material for presently serving members of the Board on significant policies and procedures;
- Guidance for citizens and Town employees on Board policies, and procedures;
- Education for new Board members in the interests of continuity of effective Board governance; and
- Serve as a model of policies and procedures for other boards and commissions.

The Handbook shall be periodically reviewed and updated as appropriate at the annual goal setting workshop of the Select Board and Town Manager.

### **Overview**

In Arlington the number of Select Board members is determined by the Town Manager Act, Chapter 503 of the Acts of 1952 as amended. Hence, the Select Board is comprised of five elected residents who serve three-year terms. They are elected on the following cycle:

- Two are elected one year;
- Two are elected the following year; and
- One is elected in the third year of a given Board election cycle.

Town Manager Act §3

The primary duties and responsibilities of the Board are described in Chapter 2 herein.

## ARLINGTON SELECT BOARD

### HISTORY

Boards of Selectmen throughout New England, have their roots in pre-colonial days when the church served as the center of the community for those who had traveled from Europe for religious freedom. After church services in Menotomy (a Wampanoag term meaning *swift running river* and the name of the village settled in 1635 that is now Arlington) the assembled would conduct a town meeting to discuss any civic matters that affected the citizens. If the matter required investigation they would “select” someone from the congregation to go and gather information and report back at the next town meeting.

Borrowing the concept of councils from their English heritage, the colonists began to elect between three and nine “select men” or “townsmen” to serve for fixed terms. Beginning with Dorchester in 1633, towns in Massachusetts quickly adopted this unique form of government.

Initially, the powers and duties of Selectmen differed from town to town. In general, Selectmen were required to carry out and enforce the votes of the Town Meeting, but were additionally granted authority over other areas of Town government.

In 1867, the citizens of the Town, by then incorporated as West Cambridge, voted to change its name to Arlington to commemorate those who had made the ultimate sacrifice on behalf of their country and were buried in the Arlington National Cemetery (dedicated in 1866).

From 1867 – 1953 there was a 3 member Board of Selectmen who were “selected” by the voters to serve 3-year terms. In 1952 Town Meeting voted to change Arlington’s form of government. On a warrant article, sponsored by the League of Women Voters and on a subsequent charter reform referendum by the voters, Arlington adopted a Town Manager form of government.

In 1953, the Board of Selectmen subsumed the Board of Public Works and became a 5-member committee. This model was based on the most popular business model of a Board of Directors who directed the President/CEO of the company. Since 1953, Arlington has had 6 Town Managers:

Edward C. Monihan	1953- 1966
Donald Marquis	1966-2000
Phil Farrington	2000- 2002
Nancy Galkowski	2002-2004
Brian Sullivan	2004-2012
Adam Chapdelaine	2012-2022
Sandy Pooler	2022-Present

In July of 1973 the first woman to serve on the then Board of Selectmen was Anne Mahon Powers who was appointed by the Board to finish the term of William S. Abbott who had retired. In November 1973 Margaret Spengler was the first woman elected to the Board of Selectmen.

Since 1867 there have been 95 citizens of Arlington who have served on the Board.

They are the following:

**SELECT BOARD 1867-PRESENT:**

Samuel S. Davis	1867-1868, 1871, 1872	Joseph A. Purcell	1948-1951
J.S. Potter	1867-1868	Marcus L. Sorensen	1949-1958
Samuel L. Butterfield	1867-1868	Edmund L. Frost	1950-1953
Otis Greene	1868-1869	Walter T. Kenney	1951-1954
Jacob F. Hobbs	1868-1871, 1872-1873	Joseph P. Greeley	1953-1972
J. Winslow Peirce	1868-1874	George A. Harris	1953-1958
George. C. Russell	1870-1871	Franklin W. Hurd	1953-1959
Warren Rawson	1871-1873	Thomas R. Rawson	1954-1960
James Durgin	1872-1879	Daniel J. Buckley, Jr.	1958-1961
James Bacon	1872-1873	Arthur D. Saul, Jr.	1958-1964, 1965-1977
John S. Crosby	1872-1873	John O. Parker	1959-1962
Henry Swan	1873-1874	Horace H. Homer	1960-1969
Henry Mott	1873-1874, 1878-1882	Philibert L. Pelligrini	1961-1964
John Schouler	1874-1878	John W. Bullock	1962-1965, 1969-1974
William H. Allen	1878-1882	Kevin P. Feeley	1964-1970
James A. Bailey	1879-1882	John J. Bilafer	1964-1972
Henry J. Locke	1882-1884	William S. Abbott	1970-1973
Samuel E. Kimball	1882-1883	Ronald A. Nigro	1972-1973
George D. Tufts	1884-1896	Harry P. McCabe	1972-1975
Charles T. Scannell	1885-1886	George K. Rugg	1973-1976
George D. Moore	1887-1890	Ann Mahon Powers	1973 (apptd), 1975-1981
Edward S. Fessenden	1892-1897	Margaret H. Spengler	1973-1979, 1984
George I. Doe	1897-1905	Robert B. Walsh	1974-1990
Warren B. Rawson	1903-1906	Robert Murray	1976-1987
James A. Bailey, Jr.	1904-1907	Robert F. O'Neill	1977-1978
J. Howell Crosby	1907-1910	Robert A. Havern	1978-1986
Philip A. Hendrick	1909-1911	William J. Grannan	1979-1984
Jacob Bitzer	1910-1914	Charles Lyons	1981-2005
Frank V. Noyes	1911-1915	Janemarie Hillier	1985-1991
Thomas J. Donnelly	1914-1920	Stephen J. Conroy	1986-1989
Horatio A. Phinney	1915-1921	John P. Donahue	1987-1988
Charles B. Devereaux	1920-1926	Franklin W. Hurd, Jr.	1988-1994
Charles H. Higgins	1921-1924	Kevin F. Greeley	1989-2018
Nelson B. Crosby	1922-1928	Stephen J. Gilligan	1990-1999
Frederick W. Hill	1924-1927	Kathleen Kiely Dias	1991-2006
Hollis M. Gott	1926-1932	Richard B. Murray	1994-1997
Luke A. Manning	1927-1930	John W. Hurd	1997-2011
Arthur P. Wyman	1928-1934	Diane M. Mahon	1999-Present
William O. Hauser	1930-1933	Annie LaCourt	2005-2012
Leonard Collins	1932-1935	Clarissa Rowe	2006-2012, 2018, 2019
George W. Lowe, Jr.	1933-1939	Daniel J. Dunn	2011-2020, 2021
Ernest W. Davis	1934-1943	Joseph A. Curro, Jr.	2012-2021
Harold M. Estabrook	1935-1945	Steven M. Byrne	2012-2017
William C. Adams	1939-1945	John V. Hurd	2018-Present
William F. Davis, Jr.	1943-1946	Stephen W. DeCoursey	2019-Present
Joseph Peterson	1944-1950	Lenard T. Diggins	2020-Present
Roscoe O. Elliott	1945-1946	Eric D. Helmuth	2021-Present
Harold A. Cahalin	1946-1949		

## 2

## Powers, Duties & Responsibilities

The primary sources of the Select Board authority are:

- Massachusetts General Laws and Special Acts;<sup>1</sup>
- The Town Manager Act; and
- Town of Arlington ByLaws.

Within the Town Manager Act and the Town Bylaws, the following non-exhaustive provisions are particularly critical in establishing the parameters of the Board's powers:

- ❖ "The Select Board shall have the general direction and management of the property and affairs of the Town in all matters not otherwise provided for, so far as permitted by law."

Town ByLaws Art. 2 § 1

- ❖ The Select Board appoints the Town Manager, the Comptroller, the Board Administrator, the Registrar of Voters (except the Town Clerk), the Zoning Board of Appeals, select advisory committees, and election officers; and further, confirm a host of appointments by the Town Manager.

Town Manager Act §§4, 11, *passim*

- ❖ The Select Board shall open the annual Warrant and call Town Meetings and Special Town Meetings and make recommendations regarding articles under same. Members of the Board also possess the privilege of recognition at any Town Meeting regardless of whether or not they are Town Meeting members.

Town ByLaws Art. 1 §2; Art. 2 §4;

- ❖ The Board's financial responsibilities include, in conjunction with the Town Manager, reviewing Town budgets to provide annual recommendations to the Finance Committee; as well as dispersing federal Community Development Block Grant monies in conjunction with the Town Manager.

Town Manager Act §32

- ❖ The Select Board, in conjunction with the Town Clerk, has the duty to call and administer Town elections consistent with the requirements of the General Laws.

---

<sup>1</sup> More than 700 statutes and Special Acts define the powers and duties of the Select Board including the Town Manager Act.

Town ByLaws Art. 1 §1; Town Manager Act §45

Accordingly, in conjunction with the General Laws, the Board possesses the following duties and responsibilities:

- ❖ Adopting Town policies and holding hearings on important Town issues;
- ❖ Working collaboratively with the Town Manager, Finance Committee and Budget Revenue Task Force in reviewing and setting fiscal guidelines for the annual operating budget and capital improvements program;
- ❖ Determining CDBG grant disbursements;
- ❖ Issuing Town Meeting warrants;
- ❖ Appointing the Town Manager and reviewing the performance of the Town Manager;
- ❖ Approving the Town Manager's appointments of most official boards and commissions;
- ❖ Exercise jurisdiction over public and private ways under the Town ByLaws;
- ❖ Oversee traffic and parking matters;
- ❖ Serve as the Licensing Board responsible for issuing and renewing licenses for the following categories:
  - common victualler,
  - food vendor,
  - alcohol,
  - lodging houses/inn keeper,
  - class I and II,
  - secondhand dealer,
  - hackney,
  - public entertainment,
  - automatic amusement, and
  - contractor drainlayer;
- ❖ Serve as the permitting authority for the following categories:
  - parking permit exceptions,
  - block party,
  - street performer, and special events.

Additionally, as outlined in the General Laws and the Town Manager Act, the Board also possesses the duties and responsibilities of the following:

- Licensing Board,
- Cable Commissioners,



- Water Commissioners,
- Highway Commissioners,
- Sewer Commissioners,
- Election Commissioners, and
- Parking Commissioners.

The above lists of powers, duties, and responsibilities do not present a complete detailing of the Select Board's role in Arlington's government, nor does it serve as a statement of limitations on a specific Board's vision and operation. Rather, this section enumerates the major categories of Select Board duties and powers, as well as specific, common areas where the Board exercises its authority in the discharge of its duties.

Each year, a given Board will both proactively and responsively address the new needs of the Town within its authority. For an understanding of the short and long-term vision and self-assessments of any given Board one should consult the most recent Select Board Goals. Each year, the Select Board revisits, renews, and revises their collective goals and objectives for the coming year in conjunction with the Town Manager. However, absent a change in law, the Select Board's powers, duties, and responsibilities remain as enumerated herein.

\*\*\*

The Select Board participates in awards, proclamations and events.

**SELECT BOARD AWARDS:**

Awards, established in 1975, are given to a person, a group of people, or an organization to recognize their excellence in a certain field. Periodically, awards are given out recognizing people and organizations for their efforts that truly benefit the Town. The Select Board nominates and awards the following:

The Robbins Award - This award honors patrons for their outstanding and significant contributions of service and leadership in the areas of social, cultural, educational, political or religious activities as well as benevolent and philanthropic actions for the common good.

The Cyrus E. Dallin Award - This award honors any person or group who has given meritorious service to the community in areas of community beautification, education, artistic, cultural, humanistic or philanthropic contributions, meeting human needs particularly needs of the youth.

The Samuel A. Wilson Award - This award includes any person or group who has made an important and meaningful contribution to the community. Their effort should be considerable, exceptional and notable.

The Joseph P. Greeley Award - This award should reflect long-time, continuous and excellent service to the town. Any past or present town employee or group is eligible to receive this award.

A Nominating Committee is appointed by the Select Board, with each Select Board Member appointing one committee member. The role of the committee is to receive applications or recommendations and then recommend a slate of nominees to present to the Select Board Chair and Vice-Chair. The Chair and Vice Chair will select the nominee finalist for each award and then bring the nominees to a future Select Board Meeting for approval. The Nominating Committee will present a one-paragraph description of each finalist's meritorious contributions at that meeting. The awards are presented at a ceremonial event in the Town Hall

## PROCLAMATIONS & EVENTS:

In addition to awards the Select Board sponsors proclamations and events

- Proclamations are a public or official announcement recognizing great accomplishments and events in the community, especially ones of great importance. A proclamation can be for an organization or an individual in honor of their recognition. Requests for proclamations should be directed to the Select Board's Administration Office along with the information/desired wording of the accomplishment or event three-weeks prior to the date of issue.
- Events are occasions of importance such as Town Day, Sister City Programs, Select Board Awards Presentations and Anniversary Celebrations. These events support the efforts of community volunteers and traditions of the community.

**Town Day** is the largest community event held annually and features music, family entertainment and booth vendors. The Town Day celebration depends on the financial support of both our corporate and residential neighbors.

**Sister City Programs** create opportunities for the Town to experience and explore other cultures through long-term municipal partnerships in a global arena. It immerses our students through a student exchange into each other's way of life which bolsters their academic experience. Sister City Nagaokakyo, Japan and Arlington celebrated a 35<sup>th</sup> anniversary of friendship in 2019. Arlington and Nagaokakyo became Sister Cities on September 24, 1984, when a group of 12 Nagaokakyo Officials and Citizens, including Mayor Tatsuo Isozumi, came to Arlington. That particular date was chosen because it was part of Arlington's Town Day Festival Weekend. The Arlington Selectmen officially recognized Teosinte, El Salvador, as Arlington's Sister City in 1988 celebrating a 30th anniversary of friendship in 2018. This affiliation was developed in the context of the Salvadoran Civil War, which lasted from 1980 to 1992.

**Anniversary Celebrations** are events celebrating historic milestones and traditions such as the Centennial Celebration of Town Hall & Gardens

\*\*\*

# 4

## Select Board Code of Conduct

---

It is the long-standing intention and tradition of the Select Board to act as a single body in the best interests of the people of the Town of Arlington, and to maintain a civil decorum becoming of the citizenry the Select Board serves. Even as individual members may passionately disagree with one another, members of the public, or Town employees, engaging in lively discourse, the Select Board shall endeavor to conduct itself in the most professional of manners. To that end, the Select Board members pledge their commitment to the following self-enforced code of conduct developed by the Massachusetts Municipal Association and modified for Arlington's governance.

### **A. Board-Community Relations**

A member of the Select Board, in relation to his or her community shall:

1. Conduct himself or herself with the understanding that his or her basic function is to make policy. Implementation and administration is invested in the Town Manager by the Town Manager Act;
2. Maintain the perspective of being part of one larger political body, appropriately respecting collective Board decisions and policies;
3. Be well informed concerning the duties of a Board Member on both local and state levels;
4. Remember that he or she represents the entire community at all times;
5. Be mindful that a member is privileged to serve, requiring selfless service that does not yield inappropriate personal benefits based on his or her work as a Select Board Member; and
6. Adhere to the ethical rules and guidelines established by the State, refraining from use of status or power to obtain improper benefits for themselves or others.

### **B. Board-Manager Relations**

Each Select Board Member, in relation to the appointed Town Manager, shall:

1. Endeavor to establish sound, clearly defined policies that will direct and support the Town Manager in the administration of the Town;
2. Provide the Town Manager full discretion for discharging his or her duties;
3. Recognize and support the administrative chain of command, reporting citizen complaints to the Town Manager;
4. Refrain from instructing Town Department Heads;

5. Exercise good judgment in contacting Town personnel supervised by the Town Manager. Questions and/or requests for information or assistance on matters of policy under the Board's jurisdiction should be directed to the Town Manager, Town Counsel, or Department Heads with the Town Manager's knowledge.

**C. Internal Board Relations**

A member of the Select Board, in his or her relations with fellow Board Members, should:

1. Recognize that action at official legal meetings is binding and that he or she alone cannot bind the Board outside of such meetings;
2. Refrain from public statements or promises of how he or she will vote on matters that will come before the Board until he or she has had an opportunity to fully vet the issue during a Board meeting;
3. Make decisions only after all facts on a question have been presented and discussed;
4. Uphold the intent of executive session and respect the privileged communication that exists in executive session;
5. Refrain from communicating the position of the Select Board to anyone unless the full Board has previously agreed on both the position and the language of the statement conveying the position;
6. Treat with respect the rights of all Members of the Board despite differences of opinion; and
7. Afford Members of the Board the opportunity to speak on matters in Board meetings and hearings without interruption.

**D. Board-Town Staff Relations**

A member of the Select Board, in his or her relations with Town staff, should:

1. Treat all staff as professionals that respects the abilities, experience, and dignity of each individual;
2. Exercise caution and discretion in public criticism of any individual Town employee. Member concerns about performance of staff reporting to the Town Manager should, under ordinary circumstances only be articulated to the Town Manager, or, in limited circumstances, other appropriate Town personnel, such as Town Counsel and Department Heads

3. Keep requests for staff support to a minimum wherever possible, and ensure that all requests go through the Town Manager's Office or between such office and the Select Board.
4. To the extent practicable, ensure that any materials or information provided to an individual member from a staff member be made available to all Select Board Members.

As a final matter each Select Board Member as an elected official, has an individual and specific series of ethical obligations under Massachusetts' "Conflict of Interest" statute, G.L. c. 268A, as well as Office of Campaign and Political Finance regulations. Moreover, the Board has obligations as a body to abide by a number of other important laws and regulations reflecting on its conduct, including, but not limited to, the Open Meeting Law and Public Records Laws. Both Members as individuals and the Board as a whole must be especially mindful of these obligations in addition to its self-enforced code of conduct.

\*\*\*

# 5

## Board Election of Officers, Employee Hiring & Appointments to Committees

---

The Select Board is responsible for hiring a variety of Town employees including the Town Manager, making or confirming appointees to Town Committees, and its own internal election of officers.

### A. Board Officers & Elections

The officers of the Select Board shall be Chair and Vice-Chair elected annually from its members, and shall each serve a term of one (1) year. The Board Administrator, discussed in further detail below, serves as Chair *pro tem* for administrative purposes only until a Chair is elected, calling for an organizational meeting on the Monday immediately following the Annual Town Election. All five (5) members should be present to hold the annual Board election, and the process shall begin by asking members of the Board for nominations for Chair.

#### ❖ Chair

Following nomination, an individual member of the Board receiving three (3) or more votes, however achieved, will be named Chair. Upon election, the Chair of the Board's duties shall be as follows:

- Preside at all meetings of the Board;
- Act as liaison between the Select Board and Select Board staff, including the Board Administrator;
- Represent the Board at meetings, conferences, and other gatherings;
- Creates and reviews Board agendas in concert with the Select Board staff, and in consultation with the Town Manager;
- Arranges orientation for new Board members;
- Serves as the spokesperson of the Board at Town Meetings and presents the Board's position on Warrant Articles with recommended action voted in the majority.

It is further noted that the function of the Chair is to convey the Board's considered position on any matter on which he or she represents the Board and to direct the conduct of the meetings so that the Board's business is properly and efficiently dispatched.

#### ❖ **Vice Chair**

Following his or her election, the Chair conducts the election for the Vice-Chair, receiving nominations and conducting votes. The member receiving three (3) or more contemporaneous votes shall be elected Vice-Chair. Upon election, the duties of the Vice-Chair shall be all the duties of the Chair in his or her absence, or as requested by the Chair.

#### ❖ **Seniority & Proceedings in the Absence of Board Officers**

Seniority of Board Members is determined by total length of service. Seniority in the instance of two individuals being elected at the same time and having served the same number of total terms shall be determined by the member receiving the superior number of votes at the most recent election.

In any Select Board proceeding conducted in the absence of the elected Chair and the Vice Chair, the most senior member of the Board in attendance shall preside as acting Chair.

#### ❖ **Removal & Vacancy of Board Officers**

The Chair and the Vice-Chair serve at the pleasure of the Board. As such, either may be removed from such position with a majority vote of the Board. If either the Chair or the Vice Chair is removed from office or resign their office, the Board will conduct another organizational meeting. The Chair conducts an organizational meeting to replace the Vice-Chair and the Vice-Chair conducts an organizational meeting to replace the Chair.

In the event of a vacancy of an office created by a vacancy on the Board itself, the minimum number of members to conduct an organizational meeting will be however many members of the Board remain in service, with three (3) being the minimum number for a quorum.

#### ❖ **Board Tradition on Elections**

While not a binding policy, it has been the tradition of the Board to appoint as Chair and Vice-Chair the two (2) individual Board Members who would be up for re-election in the next regularly scheduled election cycle. Traditionally, of these two members, the individual with the most seniority on the Board has served as Chair and the other as Vice-Chair, except in the case where the senior member had already served as Chair, in which case the junior member would serve in the Chair or the Vice Chair office. Whenever both members continue to serve concurrently – in three (3) years the roles would be reversed.

Further, it is also the Board's tradition, that when applicable, each member of the Board has served as Chair at least once every six years. In the case of the member that runs alone, every three (3) years, the Board has elected that individual as Chair. One of the two (2) members who would be



up for re-election in the year following the single-seat election has been voted as Vice-Chair. In the one instance where two (2) individuals were newly elected to the Board, neither had seniority and the Board followed the nominating and election process outside of the aforementioned tradition.

## **B. Board Vacancies**

Pursuant to §3 of the Town Manager Act, when a vacancy occurs in the actual membership of the Select Board (as opposed to vacancy of the offices of Chair or Vice-Chair), for any reason other than the expiration of a term, the remaining Select Board Members and the Moderator, within thirty days after such vacancy occurs, shall appoint another board member to fill the vacancy until the next Town Election, at which the voters shall elect a Select Board Member for the remainder of the unexpired term. A majority of the ballots of the officers entitled to vote shall be necessary to such appointment.

## **C. Board Employees**

The Select Board is responsible for hiring and supervising the following Town Employees:

- Town Manager;
- **Town Comptroller** (by approving the Town Manager's appointment);
- Select Board staff, including the Board Administrator

**Commented [HE4]:** (The Town Manager acts says the Town Manager appoints the comptroller with SB approval, and it implies the Town Manager has ordinary supervision of the comptroller, provided that the comptroller is authorized to directly report to the SB.)

A current job description for each of the above positions is annexed to the Handbook in Appendix Section A-1. While the hiring and supervision of all Board appointed Town employees is firmly vested within the Board, the Select Board as a body should utilize the professional expertise and resources of the Town Human Resources Director.

**Commented [HE5]:** Are these both current - does the SB still appoint them, at least technically?

**Commented [AM6]:** There is no "Parking Clerk" anymore. There is now a Parking and Collections Manager that is under the jurisdiction of the Treasurer's Office.

**Commented [EH7R6]:** Thanks, Ashley. Agree with deleting both

### **C-1. Appointment of the Town Manager**

The Board shall appoint the Town Manager in accordance with the Town Manager Act and will endeavor to utilize the best current practices to provide for the search for, and recruitment of Town Manger candidates.

The Board shall set the Town Manager's compensation and other material conditions of employment they deem appropriate by written contract, so long as such terms and conditions shall not be in conflict with the Town Manager Act

## **D. Statutory Direct Board Appointments**

In accordance with §4 of the Town Manager Act and Massachusetts General Laws, the Board is vested with the authority and responsibility to directly appoint a variety of Town officials in varying contexts in part-time or seasonal capacities, traditionally considered distinct from other Board or Town Employees. It is the policy of the Board to appoint qualified citizens representative of the Town's population to the extent possible.

A non-exhaustive list of significant Board direct appointees includes the following:

- Registrars of Voters (the Town Clerk who also serves as a Registrar, but is not appointed);
- Election Officers for the Town's 21 Precincts, including a Warden, Clerk, Inspectors, and other officers as required;
- Zoning Board of Appeals, both members and associate members;
- Arlington Cultural Council;
- Public Memorial Committee members; and
- Certain Special Police Officers as appropriate.

Further information on each of the aforementioned statutorily authorized direct appointments may be found in Appendix Section A-2. (add definition/MGL )

Town residents, private groups, and/or Town Committees, Boards, and Commissions are all welcomed to request a specific appointment before the Board, but should make such requests in writing to the Select Board setting forth the basis for such requested appointment with supporting materials, and prepare to attend a Board meeting to discuss their request. Further information on requests to the Board may be found in the sections of this document discussing agendas of the Board.

#### **D-1. Re-Appointments of Direct Appointees and Holdover Appointees**

The Board, through its Office shall endeavor to notify in writing any presently serving direct appointees of the Board in advance of the expiration of their term of appointment. After receiving such notice, appointees are encouraged, though not required to promptly submit any information to the Board that would assist the Board Members in determining whether re-appointment should be made or the body should seek other candidates in advance of the expiration of the relevant term

In the event that an appointee has not resigned, been reappointed or replaced by a new appointee by the date of the expiration of his or her term, such person will be considered a holdover appointee. A holdover appointee shall continue to serve in such appointment with all the duties and responsibilities of such position remaining, but is subject to removal at any time by vote of the Board.

#### **E. Creation of and Appointments to Committees of the Select Board**

In addition to specific statutorily authorized appointments, the Board may, from time to time create committees, subcommittees, and working groups that report directly to the Board for the purpose of advising the Select Board Members on specific issues. These bodies are not authorized to create or establish policy. Rather, the Board charges such bodies, specifically and/or generally with advising the Board either orally or in writing, and then acts upon recommendations of such bodies. Hence, it remains the Board's ultimate responsibility to discharge their obligations with respect to any matter referred to a committee or working group of the Board

Moreover, work for or membership on such committees of the Board shall not be considered a "town office" for the purposes of the Town Manager Act. As such bodies do not possess authority independent of the Board, any Select Board Member's membership and participation on such committees or working groups of the Board is not construed to constitute the holding of multiple offices under §9 of the Town Manager Act.

#### **F. Confirmation of Appointments by Other Town Officials**

##### **F-1. Town Manager Appointees**

In accordance with the Town Manager Act, Massachusetts General Laws, and Town Bylaws, the Town Manager makes appointments to certain Boards, Committees and Commissions subject to the confirmation of the Select Board, including, but not limited to the following:

- Arlington Redevelopment Board;
- Board of Health;
- Parks and Recreation Commission;
- Board of Cemetery Commissioners;
- Board of Library Trustees;
- Board of Commissioners of Trust Funds;
- Historical Commission;
- Conservation Commission;
- Board of Directors of Youth Services;
- Disability Commission;
- Council on Aging;
- Arlington Human Rights Commission; and

- Arlington Commission on Arts and Culture.

In the interests of efficiency and providing the public the opportunity to provide effective input, for each appointment by the Town Manager to be confirmed by the Select Board, the Board requests the Town Manager proceed as follows:

1. Submit pertinent information about any appointments due to expire within sixty (60) days of such expirations;
2. Once a potential appointee has been identified, the Town Manager shall submit a letter of intent to the Board regarding any intended appointee two weeks in advance of the next regularly scheduled Board meeting; and
3. A letter requesting confirmation of an appointee will be submitted at the next regularly scheduled meeting following the letter of intent.

#### **F-2. Treasurer Appointments**

The Town Treasurer is authorized to appoint an “Assistant Treasurer,” subject to confirmation by the Select Board (G.L. c. 41 §39A). While the Assistant Treasurer is a Town employee, for any such appointment, the Town Treasurer is requested to follow the same procedure outline for Town Manager appointments above.

\*\*\*

# 6

## Board Meeting & Hearing Procedures

Board meetings and hearings are the primary manner in which the Select Board members as a body conduct their work, both by tradition and operation of law. This section outlines the significant policies and practices of the Board in arranging and conducting meetings and hearings.

### A. Notice of Meetings

The Office of the Select Board, on behalf of the Chair, is responsible for filing appropriate public notice of any Board meeting or hearing with the Town Clerk and post on the website at least 48 hours in advance, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and Legal Holidays. The Office of the Select Board, including the Board Administrator, shall take all steps necessary to ensure Board notices comply with requirements of the Open Meeting Law, as well as any other notice requirements germane to a given public hearing or agenda item under the laws of the Commonwealth.

Typically, notice must set forth the following information regarding any meeting or hearing:

- Date and time of meeting;
- Place of meeting; and
- A list of topics the Chair reasonably anticipates to be discussed at the meeting or hearing. (See also Agendas, set forth in §5.C below).

### B. Schedule & Location

Unless otherwise set forth on meeting notices, regular meetings of the Board are held at least twice per month on Monday evenings, September through June. Meetings are commenced generally at 7:15 p.m., and all business is to conclude by 11:00 p.m. unless extended by Board vote. The location of meetings unless otherwise specified in notices is in the Select Board's Chambers on the second floor of Town Hall

During July and August, meetings may be scheduled on a monthly basis. The Board shall not meet on days designated as legal holidays. Meetings falling on a legal holiday are cancelled or rescheduled for another date at the discretion of the Board.

### B-1. Hearings & Special Meetings

Hearings (conducted separately from regular meetings) and special meetings of the Board may be scheduled at the discretion of the Board regarding any matter within their jurisdiction. Subjects of special meetings or hearings may include matters such as setting Board and Town Manager goals and objectives for the year, or warrant articles where regular meetings would not provide sufficient time to address all appropriate articles within a given Town Meeting cycle. Any special hearings or meetings follow the normal notice procedure absent an emergency, or pertinent provisions of law setting forth further notice criteria than the Open Meeting Law.

## **B-2. Emergency Meetings**

An “Emergency Meeting” is defined by law as a sudden, generally unexpected occurrence or set of circumstances demanding immediate action. Emergency meetings of the Board may be called by the Chair or any member of the Board through the Board Administrator consistent with the requirements of the Open Meeting Law, which allows a meeting in special circumstances even though no notice was previously posted.

However, a notice should be posted at the earliest possible juncture; all Board Members must be notified by the Board Administrator; and a majority of Board Members must agree to convene an emergency meeting.

## **C. Agendas**

### **C -1. Responsibility**

The Chair of the Board holds the responsibility for coordinating and planning the regular agenda utilizing digital meeting management. Each of the members of the Board and the Town Manager may request items be placed on the agenda but must communicate their desired agenda items both to the Chair and the Office of the Select Board. Ultimate authority over what items are to be placed on an agenda is vested in the Chair. However, any dispute with respect to agenda items requested, but not placed on an agenda, by members of the Board or the Town Manager may be raised during “new business” within a Board meeting.

The Board Administrator, after consultation with the Chair, shall schedule each appointment, interview, conference, or other scheduled item of business and shall confirm all appointments including time allotted. Further, the Chair, in consultation with the Board Administrator and the Town Manager, shall decide the meeting date on which any given agenda item shall appear.

### **C-2. Timing**

All items, including background and reference materials for a regular meeting agenda must be submitted to the Office of the Select Board by twelve noon on the Wednesday preceding the meeting so an agenda may be posted in a timely fashion.

Items of emergency or strictly routine nature that develop after closing of the agenda may be considered under “new business.” However, persons seeking action or approval from the Board such as license and permit applicants are advised that the Select Board will not ordinarily place untimely requests on the agenda due to lack of diligence by such applicants.

Moreover, to the extent feasible, the Office of the Select Board shall provide a revised agenda enumerating emergency or other authorized items added after the closing of the agenda, in advance of the meeting.

### **C-3. Format and Content**

**Commented [HE9]:** Ashley: Does this mean creation of a public or private timed agenda, private notification of time allowed to the relevant people, neither, or both? And is this a current practice?

**Commented [AM10R9]:** We do not schedule time periods for each item of business

**Commented [EH11R9]:** Thanks. I like your proposed edit to bring this up to date.

Agenda items will appear in a Board approved format. See Sample Agenda attached in Appendix Section A-3. An agenda item should be followed by the name of the person or board or committee requesting the item to be placed on the agenda.

#### **C-4. Release and Distribution of Agenda Materials**

For regular meetings the complete agenda with supporting materials (unless unavailable) shall be available to the public and the press at the Select Board's Office or on the website no later than noon Friday before the meeting date and shall be posted on the Town's website that same day. Similarly, the official weekly agenda will be available to the Select Board, the Town Manager, and Town Counsel on Thursday evening. All supporting materials (unless unavailable) including copies of the minutes and all important correspondence, reports and other pertinent background materials shall be electronically accessible to the Members of the Board, the Town Manager, and Town Counsel with the agenda.

The special meetings of the Board shall conform insofar as practical to the agenda for the regular Monday meetings. Distribution shall be as outlined above to the extent possible.

Additional copies of the agenda shall be available in sufficient quantity to distribute to those requesting a copy and to the people in attendance at the meetings.

#### **C-5. Notification of Interested Parties**

The Office of the Select Board shall notify persons who are directly involved in the issues to be discussed by the Board.

### **D. Meeting and Hearing Procedures**

Meetings are to be conducted in accordance with generally accepted rules of parliamentary procedure. It is the Board's practice that application of such procedure be on a relatively informal basis, due to the size of the group and the desirability of flexibility in the expression of opinion. Robert's Rule of Order is used as a guide in matters requiring clarification or definition.

A quorum shall consist of three members of the Board. As a practical courtesy, action on critical or controversial matters, the adoption of policies or the making of critical appointments shall be taken whenever practicable only when the full Board is in attendance.

Actions and decisions shall be by motion, second and vote. Split vote will be identified by name. When only three members of the Board are present or in the case of nominations, no second will be required prior to Board action.

#### **D-1. Remote Participation**

The Board approves the use of remote participation by Members of the Board within the bounds allowed by the Open Meeting Law or other acts by the state legislature. All votes taken when any Board member participates remotely shall be conducted by roll call vote.

#### **E. Citizen Participation at Select Board Meetings**

Unless directly involved in a public agenda item or within a hearing, citizens may only participate at a regular Board meeting at the discretion of the Chair, or upon request of any member of the Board.

A Public Comment or “Open Forum” period will normally be scheduled at each meeting to hear concerns of the general public (some exclusions may apply). Attendees are welcome to raise new issues for future board agendas, identify community problems, and comment on past, present or future board agendas.

The issues raised will not typically be debated at such time.

Further, Open Forum shall be conducted under the following rules:

1. Persons wishing to participate in Open Forum should sign up to speak on an appropriate Forum List prior to the commencement of the meeting, or identify themselves after the Chair announces the Open Forum agenda item at the meeting. Persons will generally be recognized in order;
2. There will be no vote or other actions by Board members based on Forum public comments;
3. Each speaker may speak only once for a maximum of three (3) minutes;
4. As noted by the Attorney General’s Office, each speaker must first be recognized by the Chair before speaking;
5. Before speaking participants should state their name, address, and if known, precinct; and
6. All speakers will adhere to our commonly agreed upon standard of civility, specifically:
  - a) treat others with respect;
  - b) avoid personalities, refraining from disparaging remarks about any person or group, including employees; and
  - c) refrain from any conduct which substantively disrupts the Board’s ability to conduct business.

Additionally, members of the public may present the Board with materials in support of their comments. However, presentation of audiovisual materials will only be allowed at the discretion



of the Chair and must be provided to the Office of the Select Board by twelve noon on the Wednesday prior to the meeting.

#### **E-1. Public Recording of Meetings**

Select Board Meetings are broadcast and recorded by Arlington Community Media, Inc., which provides members of the public free access to such recordings. However, audio and video recordings of meetings by members of the public are permitted under State Law so long as such recording does not interfere with the conduct of the meeting. By law, the Chair must be notified by any member of the public of their intention to record a meeting before the meeting commences. The Chair shall announce any such personal recordings as proscribed by law.

#### **F. Executive Session**

If practicable, Executive Sessions, other than a few minutes in duration, will be scheduled only at the end of the Open Meeting. Only items clearly allowed under the Open Meeting Law shall be included in Executive Session. An Executive Session shall not be held unless the Board has first convened in Open Session for which notice has been given. However, nothing herein shall restrict the Board from entering Executive Session at any time for any lawful purpose not previously reasonably anticipated by the Chair. A majority of the members must vote to go into Executive Session and the vote of each member must be by roll call recorded in the minutes. The mover must specify in the Open Meeting the grounds on which Executive Session is sought. Before the Executive Session, the Chair must state whether or not the Board will reconvene in Open Session.

- Executive Session Votes

All votes taken in Executive Session shall be recorded roll call votes made part of the records of the Executive Session.

- Executive Session Records

The Board must maintain accurate records of both Open Meetings and Executive Sessions. At a minimum, the records must set forth "the date, time, place, members present or absent and action taken." Executive Session records shall remain confidential only "so long as the publication may defeat the lawful purpose of the Executive Session, but no longer." Thereafter they shall be open to the public. As such, the Board should periodically review its executive session minutes every three (3) months and vote to maintain confidentiality or release such records for public review following recommendations by Town Counsel

#### **G. Minutes**

The Board Administrator shall draft minutes and shall distribute such minutes to the Board. Minutes are circulated to the Board on or before any Friday preceding a regular meeting for approval at such next regular meeting of the Board.

On request of any Board Member, approval of minutes submitted shall be postponed for one week to enable such Board Member to propose and circulate proposed amendments. Proposed

amendments must be circulated to each member not later than the Friday preceding the meeting at which approval is sought.

Minor typographical corrections may be made with respect to minutes otherwise in order for approval, without advance circulation of such corrections or Board approval.

Minutes shall contain a statement of all actions taken by the Board and of the disposition of all proposals for action. Discussions preceding action need not be detailed in the minutes.

Approved minutes shall be recorded and filed consistent with Town Bylaws and Massachusetts Public Records Laws. Minutes of executive sessions shall be separately kept and recorded in accordance with the above procedures.

#### **H. Electronic Communications**

Electronic communications provide a powerful and efficient resource for Board Members' communication. However, e-mail also poses risks of both perceived and actual Open Meeting Law violations. Accordingly, in keeping with the best current practices in government transparency and Open Meeting Law compliance, Select Board Members should endeavor to:

- Refrain from any electronic communication exchanges between a quorum of members of the Board regarding Town business;
- Limit electronic communication exchanges between any members to discussion of procedural items regarding agendas and scheduling, etc.; and
- Refrain from debating policy or conveying opinions on matters before the Board via electronic communication among members of the Board whether or not among a quorum of members.

\*\*\*

Town Meeting is the historic form of government for towns throughout the Commonwealth. Arlington has adopted a “representative” form of town meeting pursuant to G.L. c. 43A, in which 252 elected citizens of the Town from 21 precincts serve as Arlington’s legislative body. The Select Board serves many important functions in the Town Meeting process – opening the warrant, holding substantive hearings on proposed warrant articles to be considered at Town Meeting, and ultimately participating in Town Meeting to present the Board’s recommendations.

#### **A. The Warrant**

For the Annual Town Meeting, the meeting cycle begins in December with the opening of the “Town Warrant,” which is the instrument for calling a Town Meeting and must contain a list of all items to be acted upon at Town Meeting with reasonable specificity. Pursuant to Title I, Article 1 §2 of the Town Bylaws, the Town Warrant for annual meetings opens no later than the first week of December, and closes no earlier than the last Friday of the following January. The Board must post due notice of the opening and the closing of the Warrant consistent with the laws of the Commonwealth and the Town Bylaws. Further, all articles to be included are managed by the Select Board. Hence each article, regardless of its proponent must be submitted in writing and electronically to the Office of the Select Board before the closing of the Warrant. There are three means by which articles may be submitted:

1. The Select Board places an article on the Warrant by vote.
2. The Town Manager, an official Town board, commission, committee, or department head requests placement of an article on the Warrant. These requests are honored as a courtesy and do not reflect the Board’s position on the article itself.
3. Ten Registered Voters submit an article by petition. Registered voters are required to sign the petition by hand and each signature must be accompanied by an address.

Citizen proponents of warrant articles should, as a precaution, obtain more than ten signatures of registered voters supporting their petition. Further, citizens are strongly encouraged to contact Town Counsel in a timely fashion to ensure their proposed articles seek action within Town Meeting’s authority, are provided to appropriate Town bodies for hearings, and are in best practicable form.

Following the closing of the Warrant in January, the Select Board arranges the format and order of the Warrant articles. The Board may receive input from other Town bodies and officials, but ultimate discretion remains vested with the Select Board.

As a final note, some articles placed on the Warrant under the Select Board’s jurisdiction may require extra considerations, such as notice to owners of real property in instances of eminent domain takings. In such instances, the Office of the Select Board is charged with providing notice or taking other extra measures as may be required.

## **B. Warrant Hearings & Report of the Select Board**

After the close of the Warrant, the Select Board conducts hearings on warrant articles within its jurisdiction. Matters within the Board's jurisdiction are generally any article not subject to review by the Finance Committee (articles seeking appropriations of funds) or the Arlington Redevelopment Board (zoning articles).

Board Warrant Article Hearings may be conducted as a part of regular meetings of the Select Board, or as special meetings, but generally follow the same procedures and rules set forth in Chapter 5.

The objective of Board Warrant Article Hearings is to develop recommendations of the Board on each article before it by majority vote, to be set forth with the comments in the Report of the Select Board in advance of Town Meeting. Proponents of articles under the Board's jurisdiction should attend and be prepared to present arguments in favor of their article at the appointed hearing. Failure to present at the Board Warrant Article Hearing deprives the Board and the Town the opportunity to fully examine and debate the issues to be advanced by the proposed article. As such, absent good cause shown, the Board will not recommend positive action on any article which fails to be presented at its appointed Board Warrant Article Hearing regardless of the substance of such articles.

Where the Board supports taking some action contemplated by an article, regardless of how it appears before the Board, the Select Board, with assistance of Town Counsel, shall develop a motion for Town Meeting to take a specific action. Where the Board opposes an article, it will recommend a vote of "no action" to Town Meeting in its report. While respecting Town Meeting's prerogative, the Board especially urges the Moderator and Town Meeting Members to procedurally and substantively support "no action" recommendations in such instances where article proponents fail to present at the appropriate Board Warrant Article Hearing and thus leave the details of their proposal to be presented for the first time on Town Meeting floor.

## **C. Town Elections**

Generally held on the first Saturday of April, the Town Election is called by the Select Board, and serves to elect Town officers including Town Meeting Members, as well as place appropriate ballot questions to the voters. See Town Bylaws, Title I, Article 1, §1. Town Elections are technically part of the Annual Town Meeting, but no other substantive business, such as actions on warrant articles are taken at such time as Town Meeting Members have yet to be determined until polls are closed and votes counted.

Both polling hours and locations are designated by the Select Board. Polling has generally opened at 8:00 a.m. and closed at 8:00 p.m.

Election officers working the polls are appointed in accordance with G.L. c. 54 §12 and include the following for each precinct:

- Warden
- Clerk
- Inspectors
- Tellers (known as “reliefs”)

#### **D. Town Meeting**

The legislative business of Town Meeting is convened at a time and place designated by the Select Board, usually on the fourth Monday in April for consideration of all articles in the Warrant, except election. See Town Bylaws, Title I, Art. 1 §1.

Town Meeting has been historically held at Town Hall, starting at 8:00 p.m. with adjourned meetings held on the following Wednesdays and Mondays, or as otherwise voted by Town Meeting, until the conclusion of all business.

The Town Moderator calls Town Meeting to order, and generally presides over Town Meeting. The Chair of the Select Board is the spokesperson for the Board at Town Meeting and presents the Board’s positions as voted in the majority and codified in the Report of the Board of Select Board. The Chair may however designate any other member of the Board to speak on the Select Board’s behalf, and it is the position of the Board that individual Board members should have the privilege to be recognized by the Moderator at Town Meeting regardless of their status as Town Meeting members.

Further information on the conduct of Town Meeting may be found throughout Town Bylaws, Title I, Article 1.

#### **E. Special Town Meeting**

Special Town Meetings are those meetings of the Town’s legislative body outside of the schedule and cycle for the Annual Town Meeting. A Special Town Meeting may be called at the discretion of the Select Board and the call is also issued by a Special Town Meeting Warrant.

A Special Town Meeting must be called by the Select Board upon petition of 200 registered voters within forty-five (45) days of receipt of said petition.

The Warrant for a Special Town Meeting must be posted for notice in accordance with all legal requirements. The time and place of the meeting is determined by the Select Board. The Warrant is also usually kept open for one business day.

Finally, it should be noted that for any Special Town Meeting, articles by citizen petition must be submitted with the signatures and addresses of one hundred (100) registered voters rather than the ten (10) required for the Annual Town Meeting. However, in nearly all other respects, Special Town Meeting functions with the same procedures as the regular Annual Town Meeting.

\*\*\*

# 8

## Licenses & Permits

Detailed license and permit policies and requirements are set forth in the Select Board's License & Permit Policy Manual, available in the Select Board's Office. The following licenses and permits are approved by the Board:

### LICENSES

All Alcohol Package Store License

All Alcohol Restaurant License

Wine & Malt Beverages Only License

All Alcohol Club License

Special Alcohol License

Theatre License

Automatic Amusement License

Cable Television License

Contractor Drainlayer License

Common Victualler License (65)

Food Vendor License – Take Out Only

Fortune Teller License

Class I Auto Dealer License (new cars)

Class II Auto Dealer License (used cars)

Class II Auctioneer License

Lodging House/Inn Holder License

Public Entertainment License

Secondhand Dealer License

Taxi Cab License

*\*No more licenses available at this time*

### PERMITS

Block Party Permit

Café/Outside Seating Permit

Parking Exception Permit

Street Performance/Special Event Permit

**Commented [HE12]:** Ashley: please update the list and number of permits here.

**Commented [AM13R12]:** Would it be possible to strike all numbers as they frequently change?

**Commented [EH14R12]:** Good idea, yes.

\*\*\*

# 9

## Alcohol Policy Summary

The Select Board serves as the Local Licensing Authority (“LLA”) under state law and Alcohol Beverages Control Commission (“ABCC”) regulations, and is authorized by special legislation to issue the following types of alcohol licenses:

**Commented [HE15]:** Ashely: please also review and update the number of available licenses in this section

- Restaurant Liquor Licenses, which permit service of alcoholic beverages on site within food-serving (Com Vic) licensed Arlington establishments:
  - “All Alcohol Licenses,” in restaurants with fifty (50) or more seats (13/20 issued); and
  - “Wine & Malt Only” Licenses (15/Unlimited issued);
- Package Store Licenses for all alcohol, which permit the operation of liquor stores in Arlington (6/7 issued);
- One Day/Special Licenses (both “All Alcohol” and “Wine & Malt Only”) which are generally for special, limited-time events;
- Theatre Licenses (Wine & Malt Only) for private premises with a minimum of 100 seat capacity, which permit beer and wine in Arlington theatres (2 issued);
- “All Alcohol” Clubs Licenses, which permit alcohol service at Arlington clubs (7 issued); and
- Farmers Market (“Wine & Malt Only”) Licenses, which permit the sale and limited sample pouring for approved agricultural events such as appropriate farmers markets.

For each of the above-listed licenses, there is a separate application process and detailed policy set forth in the Select Board’s License & Permit Manual. However, the following general policies and guidelines apply to all alcohol licenses in Arlington.

### A. General Statement of Policy

The Board also intends that all service and consumption of alcohol in the Town of Arlington be done responsibly and in conformance with all legal requirements. In service of these goals, as previously noted, licenses will be issued under the Policies, Rules, and Regulations specific to each type of license as set forth in the License & Permit Manual.

### B. Timing & ABCC Approvals

As a general matter, interested parties should begin the process of applying for any alcohol license with obtaining the appropriate application forms from the ABCC website available at <https://www.mass.gov/abcc>.

The Office of the Select Board will assist applicants to the extent feasible, but a *fully completed package must be received* in order for any license application to be placed on the Board's Agenda. Applicants should allow *8-12 weeks* from the submission of a complete package for the Board to process and approve any license, and for the ABCC to confirm same. Applicants are reminded that a Select Board-approved license is not valid until the ABCC confirms same.

#### **C. Safeguards & Penalties**

Applicants and license holders are encouraged to train staff in alcohol service safety programs. Applicants who certify that they have received such training may be eligible for a discounted license fee.

Violations of laws, regulations or Board policies regarding alcohol licenses may result in suspension, revocation, or denials of future licenses by the Select Board, the ABCC, or both, as well as other civil or criminal penalties where appropriate.

#### **D. Changes to Licenses**

License-holders are required to update their license with the Board and the ABCC. Questions about changes to licenses should be directed to the Office of the Select Board.

#### **E. Alcohol Policy Changes**

Persons seeking any change to alcohol policies should contact the Office of the Select Board and Town Counsel.

\*\*\*



The Select Board serves as the primary regulatory authority over streets throughout Arlington, including establishing Traffic Rules and Orders, regulating all public parking, and serving as the custodian of public ways, sidewalks and their appurtenant fixtures, such as islands, benches, and streetlight poles.

### **A. Public Ways**

Public Ways are those streets in Arlington which were laid out and accepted by the Board of Survey or other appropriate authority. The Select Board no longer acts as the Board of Survey, but maintain a wide range of responsibilities relative to traffic rules, parking, permits, licenses, approvals, and enforcement of regulations on the use and maintenance of public ways. See e.g., G.L. c. 40 sec. 22 (Traffic Rules and Orders), Title III of the Town ByLaws (Public & Private Ways). These duties and responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

- Promulgating Traffic Rules and Orders;
- Establishing parking policies and regulations;
- Permitting uses of Public Ways such as outdoor seating for cafes and restaurants, street performances, posting of temporary notices/signage;
- Setting and enforcing waste and snow removal responsibilities; and
- Setting and enforcing Minuteman Bikeway hours in Arlington.

### **A-1. Traffic Rules & Orders, Parking, and Advisory Committees**

It is the policy of this Board to establish Traffic Rules and Orders, which manage the wide range of traffic, transportation, and parking concerns and perspectives in Arlington, principally to ensure public safety and accessibility, but also to reasonably balance other important (and sometimes competing) community goals.

To this end, the Select Board will continue to be responsive to resident input, but also employ the expertise of the Parking Committee and Transportation Advisory Committee to carefully study and make recommendations on appropriate issues.

Traffic Rules & Orders and the Board's Parking Policies and Regulations may be found on the Town's website or through the Select Board's Office.

### **A-2. Use of Public Ways and Fixtures for Publicity & Promotion**

As the custodian of public ways and certain fixtures, such as streetlight poles, the Board permits temporary posting or installation of notices, signs, or banners to publicize upcoming events or to

designate or promote the unique commercial, historic, or cultural character or status of an area or district within the Town.

Interested parties should contact the Select Board's Office for further information and ensure that notices, signs, or banners posted on any Town-owned fixture or property comply with all relevant Zoning and Town Bylaws as well as other policies of this Board.

## **B. Private Ways**

So called "private ways" primarily consist of streets which were laid out by a public authority but never accepted as a public way.<sup>2</sup> Abutting landowners have shared property interests in private ways and the general responsibility to maintain them, but must allow the public a right of access over such ways.

### **B-1. Betterments**

Pursuant to G.L. c. 40 § 6N, the Town has adopted a bylaw by which abutters may petition the Select Board for repairs to private ways (Title III, Art. 3), commonly known as "betterments." Interested residents should contact the Select Board's Office for a betterment packet detailing the process, costs, and limitations of betterment orders.

## **C. Public Utilities**

In its capacity as Arlington's Board of Public Works and Water and Sewer Commissioners, the Select Board hears requests by public utilities for permissions to access and excavate the streets for appropriate purposes, as well as overseeing other important public utility matters such as removal of double utility poles in Arlington. This Board understands and appreciates the needs of utilities to maintain and upgrade their infrastructure, as well as to respond to emergencies for the safety and service benefit of Town residents. However, we strongly encourage public utility representatives to coordinate projects and information both within their own parent companies (for instance, to be prepared to address a broad range of questions and concerns when before the Board), and with the Department of Public Works' regarding their roadway improvement projects in the interests of maximizing the Town's investment in roadway infrastructure and minimizing disruptions to residents.

\*\*\*

---

<sup>2</sup> The majority of "private ways" in Arlington are more precisely defined as "statutory private ways," and distinct from the less common "true private ways," which were never laid out by a public authority.

## Appendix Section A-1

**Commented [HE16]:** Office staff: Please update with the most recent job description and responsibilities.

### **BOARD ADMINISTRATOR**

**Commented [HE(17)]:** Ashley has updated this with the current job description

#### **Definition**

Administrative and professional work assisting the Select Board to discharge the duties of the office; all other related work, as required.

#### **Supervision**

Works under the administrative direction of the Select Board Chairperson, in accordance with general instructions and requiring the ability to plan and perform duties independently.

Performs a variety of administrative and professional duties, requiring a thorough knowledge of town operations and the exercise of considerable judgment and initiative in responding to inquiries, particularly in situations not clearly defined by precedent or established procedures.

#### **Supervisory Responsibilities**

Supervises up to three full-time employees.

#### **Work Environment**

Work is performed under typical office conditions; work environment is moderately quiet. Employee is frequently required to work outside of normal schedule. Work fluctuates as a result of Town Meetings, town elections, Town Day and other events; however, these variations in work can generally be scheduled.

The employee operates standard office equipment.

Duties are primarily devoted to public contact; employee has frequent contact with the general public, Select Board, Town Manager, other town departments, and various local organizations. Contacts require courtesy and discretion; contact is in person, email, text, telephone, and in other written correspondence.

The employee has access to town-wide confidential information, such as personnel records, law suits, and criminal investigations.

Errors could result in significant delay or loss of services, adverse public relations, legal repercussions and monetary loss.

#### **Essential Duties and Responsibilities**

*The essential functions or duties listed below are intended only as illustrations of the various types of work that may be performed. The omission of specific statements of duties does not exclude them from the position if the work is similar, related, or a logical assignment to the position.*

Prepares agendas and information packets for the Select Board; prepares the minutes for meetings of the Select Board, ensuring accuracy and that minutes reflect the true nature of issues discussed. Works closely with the Select Board Chairperson and other staff to make sure persons are present and necessary documents are available for Select Board meetings.

Prepares the Annual Town Meeting Warrant; provides draft copies of the warrant to Town Meeting members, as well as hearing schedules; prepares the Select Board's Report to the Town Meeting, which records votes of the Select Board on each warrant article; ensures that the report is distributed to Town Meeting members.

Keeps the Select Board informed concerning the daily operations of the town, by discussing matters by telephone, sending e-mails and routing copies of letters to members of the Board; sets up hearings; responds to specific information requests of the Board.

Investigates and follows up on complaints and concerns which have come into the Select Board office; monitors spending of the office; oversees the operations of the office; maintains liaison with the Office of Town Manager.

Coordinates requirements and procedures relating to public hearings and licensing matters which are under the jurisdiction of the Select Board.

Oversees and coordinates resident private way betterment requests; develops recommended policies and procedures. Monitors private way repair revolving account and resident payments in cooperation with the Assessor's and Treasurer's Departments.

Supervises and advises staff on handling issues and assists staff to ensure duties are effectively performed.

Attends meetings of the Select Board and follows up on the directives of the Select Board.

Performs other similar or related duties, as required or as situation dictates.

### **Recommended Minimum Qualifications**

#### **Education and Experience**

Bachelor's Degree in a related field; three to five years of public administration experience; municipal experience desirable; experience dealing with the public strongly preferred; or an equivalent combination of education and experience.

#### **Knowledge, Ability and Skill**

Thorough knowledge of municipal and state government and office practices and procedures. Knowledge of the political context of local government.

Ability to interact tactfully and appropriately with the general public and town departments. Ability to work effectively under time constraints to meet deadlines. Ability to be diplomatic and recognize the sensitivity of issues. Ability to establish priorities and recognize potential problems and sensitive matters. Ability to act with a high level of discretion and maintain confidentiality of sensitive matters.

Skill in the use of computer applications, including word processing and spreadsheets. Skill in organizing information and statistical records. Supervisory skills. Interpersonal skills.

### **Physical Requirements**

Minimal physical effort is required to perform duties under typical office conditions. The employee is frequently required to sit, speak and hear. Vision requirements include the ability to read routine and complex documents and use a computer.

*This job description does not constitute an employment agreement between the employer and employee, and is subject to change by the employer, as the needs of the employer and requirements of the job change.*

**Commented [HE18]:** Office staff: Please update with the most recent job description and responsibilities.

## **OFFICE MANAGER – Select Board**

### **Definition**

Administrative, supervisory, financial and customer service work assisting the Board Administrator in the discharge in the functions of the office of the Select Board; all other related work, as required.

### **Supervision**

Works under the general direction of the Board Administrator. Works independently, generally setting own daily work plan to achieve defined objectives; refers unusual cases to the supervisor. Acts as the department head in his/her absence.

Performs a variety of responsible administrative and financial work, requiring judgment and initiative, and the ability to interpret guidelines, procedures, and policies and carry out assignments independently. Exercises considerable judgment in responding to citizen complaints, inquiries from the general public and managing workload and assignments.

### **Supervisory Responsibilities**

Supervises up to 2 full time employees as well as multiple volunteers associated with special events.

### **Work Environment**

Performs work under typical office conditions with frequent interruptions; works and responds to calls/texts outside of normal business hours multiple times per month. The volume of work is subject to seasonal and other fluctuations such as special events, license renewal deadlines, elections, and preparation for meetings of the Select Board.

In the absence of the Board Administrator the Office Manager attends and takes minutes for evening Board and other meetings as directed.

The employee operates standard office equipment.

Performance of duties requires interaction with local and state elected and appointed officials, other town departments, such as Town Clerk, Assessors, Planning Department, Police and Fire Departments and inspection departments and others, as well as outside agencies; responds to inquiries in person, by telephone, text, e-mail, and mail.

The employee has frequent contact with agitated and occasionally hostile residents or business contacts as well as persons for whom English is second language.

The employee has access to department-related confidential information including personnel records, legal proceedings, criminal history records, executive session minutes and other confidential matters under the purview of the Select Board.

### **Essential Duties and Responsibilities**

*The essential functions or duties listed below are intended only as illustrations of the various types of work that may be performed. The omission of specific statements of duties does not exclude them from the position if the work is similar, related, or a logical assignment to the position.*

Administers the day to day operation of the Office of the Select Board; provides administrative backup and support to the Board Administrator and serves the lead role in all licensing functions under the purview of the Board. Coordinates hearings, supporting materials and notification of abutters.

Coordinates and administers all liquor licenses and applications. Reviews applications to ensure compliance with state standards. Regularly attends trainings by the state ABCC (Alcohol and Beverage Control Commission). Coordinates and administers Common Victualler License applications. Advises applicants and oversees the internal inspections process with other town departments. Notifies abutters and arranges hearings before the Board.

Develops policies and procedures for the administration of licensing and office operations. Distributes policies and posts on the town's website. Updates Select Board handbook as necessary.

Prepares weekly payrolls and the accounting of personnel records relating to sick time, personal time, vacation, etc; ensures compliance with town and office policies and procedures.

Purchases all necessary office supplies and handles all financial matters related to the administration of the office and/or delegates and reviews work performed in this area.

Composes a variety of correspondence on behalf of the Board, maintains files of correspondence; acts as a liaison with Town officials, boards and commissions.

Supports the Board Administrator in the preparation of the Town Meeting Warrant. Assists in gathering and preparing agendas and related materials for Select Board meetings.

Coordinates all requests for information/action which by mail, email by telephone, or in person; responds to routine requests and where, necessary, refers requests to the appropriate staff and/or Department of the Town. Follows up on all information/action requests to ensure

compliance. Brings unresolved or non-routine requests to the attention of the Board Administrator.

Performs similar or related work as directed, required, or as the situation dictates.

### **Recommended Minimum Qualifications**

#### **Education and Experience**

Associate's Degree in business or management; Bachelor's Degree preferred; five years of administrative experience; customer service and supervisory experience; or an equivalent combination of education and experience.

#### **Knowledge, Ability and Skill**

Thorough knowledge of office administration, practices and procedures. Knowledge of department operations. Knowledge of accounting, billing and budgeting procedures.

Ability to organize time, work independently and accomplish tasks, despite frequent interruptions. Ability to prioritize work assignments. Ability to coordinate office and staff functions. Ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with the public. Ability to record and maintain financial records. Ability to communicate effectively verbally and in writing. Ability to assess situations and react promptly.

Ability to act with discretion and maintain confidentiality of sensitive information. Ability to adapt to changing demands and provide support to fellow staff in stressful conditions.

Excellent computer skills. Supervisory skills. Good communication and organizational skills.

#### **Physical Requirements**

Minimal physical effort is required to perform duties under typical office conditions. The employee is frequently required to sit, speak, hear and use hands to operate equipment. Vision requirements include the ability to read routine and complex documents and use a computer.

*This job description does not constitute an employment agreement between the employer and employee, and is subject to change by the employer, as the needs of the employer and requirements of the job change.*



## **ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT - SELECT BOARD**

### **Definition**

Responsible administrative, supervisory and customer service work, supporting the operations of the Select Board; all other related work, as required.

### **Supervision**

Works under the general supervision of the Board Administrator, in accordance with established methods and procedures.

Works independently to perform a variety of duties following specialized rules and procedures; limited issues requiring clarification are referred to the supervisor.

### **Work Environment**

Performs work under typical office conditions. The volume of work is subject to cyclic fluctuations as a result of special events, license renewal deadlines, elections, and preparation for meetings of the Select Board.

The employee operates standard office equipment.

Performance of duties requires interaction with other town departments, such as Town Clerk, Assessors, Planning Department, Police and Fire Departments and inspection departments and others, as well as outside agencies; responds to inquiries in person, by telephone, e-mail, and mail.

The employee has frequent contact with agitated and occasionally hostile residents or business contacts.

The employee has access to executive session minutes and criminal investigations.

Errors could result in delay of service or monetary loss or legal repercussions.

### **Essential Duties and Responsibilities**

*The essential functions or duties listed below are intended only as illustrations of the various types of work that may be performed. The omission of specific statements of duties does not exclude them from the position if the work is similar, related, or a logical assignment to the position.*

Organizes the agenda and reference materials for Select Board's meetings; uploads meeting content into digital software system; contacts town departments and communicates with individuals pertinent to agendas (residents, utilities, businesses); composes letters and reports; files and performs other administrative functions.

Undertakes follow-up of agenda items, as required, such as preparing letters of appointment and reappointment to boards and commissions, issuance of contract/drain layer licenses, and letters to utility companies approving or disapproving petitions.

Provides administrative support to comply with Public Record Requests and Open Meeting Law requirements; posts agendas, meeting notices and minutes for the Select Board and subcommittees, answers telephones and greets visitors; answers questions and directs persons to proper offices and departments; participates in other programs organized and delivered by the Select Board. Responds to departmental inquiries made through the Town's Request/Answer Center.

**Commented [HE19]:** Office staff: Please update with the most recent job description and responsibilities.

**Commented [AM20]:** Working with Caryn to update this Job description

Develops and maintains a database of guidelines and procedures and frequently asked questions for use by staff in the office of the Select Board.

Daily photocopies and scans in-coming correspondence for Select Board's packets; maintains filing system; prepares town meeting book with warrant articles; serves as primary contact for election workers, notifies precinct workers by correspondence and telephone regarding elections and recruits precinct workers, as necessary.

Oversees and administers payroll of election workers. Supports the preparation of town election warrants; ensures proper posting in conformance with Town Bylaws.

Prepares the Select Boards Proclamations. Processes one-day liquor licenses in coordination with Community Safety.

*Assists with special projects and events sponsored by the Select Board.*

*Assists in coordinating Town Day; performs a variety of tasks associated with Town Day.*

Performs similar or related work as directed, required, or as situation dictates.

#### **Recommended Minimum Qualifications**

##### **Education and Experience**

Associates Degree; advanced training in administrative skills; two to three years of office experience; or an equivalent combination of education and experience.

##### **Knowledge, Ability and Skill**

Knowledge of office practices and procedures and municipal government.

Ability to work independently, organize time and accomplish tasks with accuracy and attention to detail. Ability to maintain records. Ability to communicate effectively verbally and in writing. Ability to organize administrative projects. Ability to work with frequent maintaining a strong attention to detail.

Excellent computer skills, including word processing and spreadsheets. Communication and organizational skills.

##### **Physical Requirements**

Minimal physical effort is required to perform duties under typical office conditions. The employee is frequently required to sit, speak, hear, and use hands to operate equipment. Vision requirements include the ability to read routine and complex documents and use a computer.

#### **PRINCIPAL CLERK - SELECT BOARD**

##### **Definition**

Responsible administrative and office duties, supporting the operations of the Select Board; all other related work, as required.

**Commented [HE21]:** Office staff: Please update with the most recent job description and responsibilities.

**Commented [AM22]:** Working with Caryn to update this Job description

**Supervision**

Works under the general supervision of the Board Administrator, in accordance with established methods and procedures.

Works independently to perform a variety of duties following specialized rules and procedures; issues requiring clarification are referred to the supervisor.

**Work Environment**

Performs work under typical office conditions. The volume of work is subject to cyclic fluctuations as a result of special events, license renewal deadlines, elections, and preparation for meetings of the Select Board.

The employee operates standard office equipment.

Performance of duties requires interaction with other town departments, such as Town Clerk, Assessors, Planning Department, Police and Fire Departments and inspection departments and others, as well as outside agencies; responds to inquiries in person, by telephone, e-mail, and mail.

The employee has access to executive session minutes and criminal investigations.

Errors could result in delay of service or monetary loss or legal repercussions.

**Essential Duties and Responsibilities**

*The essential functions or duties listed below are intended only as illustrations of the various types of work that may be performed. The omission of specific statements of duties does not exclude them from the position if the work is similar, related, or a logical assignment to the position.*

Assists in organizing the agenda and reference materials for the Select Board's meetings; uploads meeting content into digital software system; contacts town departments and communicates with individuals pertinent to agendas (residents, utilities, businesses); composes letters and reports; files and performs other administrative functions.

Undertakes follow-up of agenda items, as required, such as preparing letters of appointment and reappointment to boards and commissions, issuance of contract/drain layer licenses, and letters to utility companies approving or disapproving petitions.

Provides administrative support to comply with Public Record Requests and Open Meeting Law requirements; posts agendas, meeting notices and minutes for the Select Board and subcommittees.

Answers telephones and greets visitors; answers questions and directs persons to proper offices and departments; participates in other programs organized and delivered by the Select Board.

Develops and maintains a database of guidelines and procedures and frequently asked questions for use by staff in the office of the Select Board.

Performs department deposits in conformance with Treasurer guidelines.

Processes in-coming mail for Select Board's packets; maintains electronic and hardcopy filing system; prepares town meeting book with warrant articles; notifies precinct workers by correspondence and telephone regarding elections and recruits precinct workers, as necessary.

*Assists in coordinating Town Day; performs a variety of tasks associated with Town Day including electronic applications and spreadsheets.*

*Performs similar or related work as directed, required, or as situation dictates.*

---

**Recommended Minimum Qualifications****Education and Experience**

High school diploma; advanced training in secretarial skills; two to three years of office experience; or an equivalent combination of education and experience.

**Knowledge, Ability and Skill**

Knowledge of office practices and procedures and municipal government.

Ability to work independently, organize time and accomplish tasks with accuracy and attention to detail. Ability to maintain records. Ability to communicate effectively verbally and in writing. Ability to organize administrative projects.

Excellent computer skills, including word processing and spreadsheets. Communication and organizational skills. Familiarity with MUNIS desirable.

**Physical Requirements**

Minimal physical effort is required to perform duties under typical office conditions. The employee is frequently required to sit, speak, hear, and use hands to operate equipment. Vision requirements include the ability to read routine and complex documents and use a computer.

*This job description does not constitute an employment agreement between the employer and employee, and is subject to change by the employer, as the needs of the employer and requirements of the job change.*

|

## **COMPTROLLER**

### **Definition**

The Comptroller has responsible fiscal and general management responsibilities developing and maintaining financial records and controlling cash flow of all town funds, preparing and reviewing budgetary materials, exercising budget control and serving as the municipal expert in the MUNIS accounting system; all other related work, as required.

### **Supervision**

Works under the administrative direction of the Select Board, in accordance with applicable Massachusetts General Laws, town bylaws and established standards. The incumbent will be expected to report to the Select Board upon request in regard to financial matters of the Town, including but not limited to, year to date budget reports, financial statements, and audit related documents. The incumbent will also be subject to an annual performance review by the Select Board.

Performs a variety of complex and highly responsible duties requiring extensive judgment and initiative in planning, organizing, and directing the town's finances, as well as ensuring that all municipal transactions conform to law and sound municipal accounting practice.

### **Supervisory Responsibilities**

Directly supervises full-time (currently four) employees, in addition to indirect supervision of full-time and part-time employees.

### **Work Environment**

Work is performed under typical office conditions; work environment is quiet. The workload is subject to seasonal fluctuations, as well as unplanned events. The employee is required to respond to equipment-related emergencies. The employee is frequently required to attend evening meetings and meetings outside of normal business hours.

The employee operates standard office equipment and computers.

The employee has contact with town employees, town meeting members, committee members and vendors and minimal contact with the general public. Contact is by primarily telephone or e-mail.

The employee has access to department-related confidential information, including personnel files, bid documents, law suits, criminal investigations and collective bargaining negotiations.

Errors could result in delay or loss of service, monetary loss, and legal repercussions.

### **Essential Duties and Responsibilities**

*The essential functions or duties listed below are intended only as illustrations of the various types of work that may be performed. The omission of specific statements of duties does not exclude them from the position if the work is similar, related, or a logical assignment to the position.*

Works cooperatively with the Town Manager, Deputy Town Manager, School Chief Financial Officer, and other Town and School financial officials in the day to day management of Town and School finances.

Manages the daily operation of the Comptroller's office, including supervision of professional and administrative staff; disciplines and evaluates the performance of staff; provides training to staff to ensure maximum efficiency.

**Commented [HE24]:** SB administrator and HR director or Town Manager should update this with the most recent job description available.

**Commented [AM25]:** This is the most up to date job description

Reviews and approves bills, drafts, purchase orders and payroll to ensure proper calculations, correct appropriation charges in accordance with town meeting votes, and ensure against fraudulent, unlawful or excessive payments; verifies and draws warrants upon town treasury for payment.

Oversees and maintains a complete set of records of account appropriations, expenditures, revenues, assessments and abatements according to statutes, bylaws and regulations; maintains storage of documents in accordance with record retention laws; examines and retains custody of all town contractual agreements; maintains a register of surety bonds of indemnity turned over to the town and maintains debt management records; maintains current knowledge of all related laws and regulations.

Prepares and distributes recurrent or special reports to comply with administrative orders, federal and state grants, and similar requirements.

Coordinates the annual municipal audit.

Provides guidance to all town departments and agencies on operation procedures in financial management; briefs responsible officials on proper submittal of bills and invoices; provides town officials with periodic balances in appropriation and other accounts. Works closely with financial leadership of the Town in the Tax Recapitulation process including preparation of all appropriation and fund balance information.

Develops budget classification systems and provides assistance to department heads and other agencies in preparing annual budget requests and salary projections; provides assistance on proper budgetary controls, including furnishing current data.

In cooperation with other Town Departments manages all town/school telecommunications equipment to ensure reliable and up-to-date service. Works cooperatively with the Chief Information Officer in the investigation, development and transition to new telecommunications technologies.

Serves as an ex-officio member of the Contributory Retirement System Board.

Serves on the Capital Planning Committee and other committees as required.

Performs other similar or related duties, as required or as situation dictates.

#### **Recommended Minimum Qualifications**

##### **Education and Experience**

Bachelor's Degree in finance, accounting or a related field; five years of experience in municipal or governmental accounting and law, including supervisory experience; or an equivalent combination of education and experience. Ability to obtain and maintain status as a Certified Governmental Accountant.

##### **Knowledge, Ability and Skill**

Thorough knowledge of municipal accounting principles and practices and budgetary functions; thorough knowledge of the organization and operation of town departments and of legal controls over municipal finance in the Commonwealth.

Ability to analyze and interpret financial data and to present findings clearly in written and oral form. Ability to prepare and manage budgets. Ability to establish and maintain cooperative relationships with

subordinates, town officials and governmental representatives. Ability to work independently and exercise judgment.

Skill and accuracy in working with numbers and detail. Diagnostic and problem-solving skills. Excellent computer skills including, MUNIS, word processing, and spreadsheet applications; exceptional knowledge and expertise in municipal accounting systems including the ability to produce specific and generalized reports. Excellent organizational skills.

**Physical Requirements**

Minimal physical effort is required to perform duties under typical office conditions; the employee may be required to move files and computer equipment. The employee is frequently required to sit, speak and hear and use hands to operate equipment. Vision requirements include the ability to read routine and complex documents and use a computer.

*This job description does not constitute an employment agreement between the employer and employee, and is subject to change by the employer, as the needs of the employer and requirements of the job change.*

**Commented [HE26]:** Replace this section with the recently completed Town Manager profile in 2023



## Town Manager Position Statement - 2022

Arlington, MA (46,308 pop.), is a thriving community that provides diverse neighborhoods, active civic life, and good public transportation options. Located just six miles northwest of Boston, the Town attracts residents who value its geographic location and quality of life. Arlington offers a diverse mix of residential settings and popular retail, dining, and entertainment options. Over the years, the Town has steadily evolved into a more affluent suburban town. Residents have a lot invested in the community and expect excellent municipal services for a reasonable tax bill. Arlington has a strong history of supporting specific initiatives to improve the quality of these services. This support is evidenced in recent years by successful tax override initiatives to upgrade all the school facilities and maintain quality municipal services.

Arlington has an AAA bond rating and a FY23 budget of \$197.16 million. The Town's challenges include a structural deficit with a need for periodic Proposition 2½ overrides, a very limited commercial/industrial tax base, managing the Town's growth, the rising cost of housing as well as the need for additional housing that is affordable and moderately priced, continuing its strong

sustainability efforts, maintaining or enhancing government transparency, and continuing to be in the forefront on critical social issues, including diversity, equity, and inclusion. Arlington recognizes that climate change affects community health, local natural resources, and infrastructure. The Town is a regional leader in making policy and budget decisions through a lens of climate resiliency and sustainability.

Arlington is seeking an experienced, knowledgeable, and inclusive leader with superior community engagement and communication skills, proficient financial acumen, and outstanding personnel management skills to serve as its next Town Manager. Candidates should have a bachelor's degree (advanced degree preferred) in public administration or a related field and experience as a city/town manager or assistant city/town manager or an equivalent public or private sector level of experience. Candidates must have at least three years of significant municipal management or administrative experience and must be a U.S. citizen. Candidates should be proactive and strategic thinkers, instill confidence and trust, and be able to build collaborative relationships with appointed/elected officials, residents, employees, and business owners. The Select Board supports the Town Manager having a healthy work/life balance while also accomplishing the Town's goals. The Board will give serious consideration to applications from nontraditional candidates who display exceptional characteristics and the necessary aptitude for this position.

**Annual Salary: \$200K+/- DOQ.** The successful candidate will receive an attractive compensation package including health and retirement plans, commensurate with qualifications and experience.

### Government

The five-member [Select Board](#) is the elected executive branch of municipal government. It is responsible for adopting Town policies, and reviews and sets fiscal guidelines for the annual operating budget and capital improvement programs. The Board also determines CDBG money disbursements, issues Town Meeting warrants, oversees traffic and parking, makes appointments to committees and commissions, and serves as the licensing and permitting board for various businesses and events. The Select Board appoints

**Commented [HE27]:** Staff: Please replace this section in its entirety with the recently approved profile used in the current search.

**Commented [HE(28)]:** This has been updated with the text of the current town manager search profile.

the [Town Manager](#) who is responsible for the daily and efficient management of the Town. The Town Manager is responsible for implementation of policies established by the Select Board, for the efficient administration of all Town activities under the manager's control; appointment of various department heads, town officers, and some commissions and committees; employees under the manager's supervision; preparation of the annual operating budget and capital outlay program as well as other responsibilities detailed in the Town Manager Act. Arlington has an elected legislative Town Meeting of 252 members. Among Arlington's elected bodies and positions are: Select Board, School Committee, Assessors, Housing Authority, Town Clerk, Treasurer, Moderator, and Town Meeting members. The Town Manager must engage with Arlington residents, who are highly involved with civic affairs, and collaborate with its various elected and appointed boards, commissions, and committees.

### **Finances**

Arlington has an FY23 budget of approximately \$197 million and a Standard and Poor's rating of AAA with a stable outlook. Arlington regularly updates its long-range financial plan, and it constantly searches for opportunities to reduce the Town's structural deficit. Arlington has a skilled and experienced financial team that will assist the next Town Manager in achieving Arlington's financial goals. The average single-family tax bill in FY22 is \$9,646 and the average assessed value of a single-family home is \$844,658. Approximately 75.28% of the Town's revenue comes from the tax levy, with 12.39% from state aid, 4.68% from local receipts, and 7.66% from all other, according to the Massachusetts Department of Revenue Division of Local Services. The total assessed value of Arlington properties in FY22 is nearly \$12.5 billion. New growth value in FY22 was \$82.3 million. Free cash for FY23 was certified at \$15.9 million.

The next Town Manager should have superior financial acumen and the ability to work collaboratively with the Select Board, Long Range Planning Committee, and Finance team to find ways to reduce the structural deficit. The Town Manager needs to be innovative and decisive regarding finances and all aspects of municipal management. Collective bargaining experience would be beneficial in this position.

### **Education**

[Arlington Public Schools](#) provides an excellent education and currently serves slightly more than 5,866 students with an FY23 budget of approximately \$84.44 million. Arlington operates seven elementary schools, two middle

schools, and Arlington High School. The high school is currently undergoing a \$291 million renovation/construction. Arlington's student body is diverse – 70% White, 13% Asian, 8% multi-race non-Hispanic, 6% Hispanic, and 3% African American – reflecting the ever-changing demographics of the community and the country. Special education serves 15.9% of students. Approximately 4.2% of students are English language learner students. Approximately 27.9% of students are considered high needs students, which is determined if the student is from a household

designated as either low income or economically disadvantaged, is considered an English language learner (ELL) or former ELL (within two years) or is a student with disabilities who is on an individualized education plan.

### **Economic and Community Development**

Arlington is located six miles from Boston and is bordered by Cambridge, Somerville, Medford, Winchester, Lexington, and Belmont. With quick access to neighboring communities via public transit, Arlington is an attractive community for people who work in nearby Boston and Cambridge's universities, hospitals, and tech-related start-ups. The Town's residents tend to be highly educated, with nearly 73% of adults ages 25 years+ holding at least a bachelor's degree and more than 35% of that age group holding a graduate or professional degree. At just under 5.5 square miles, Arlington is a dense community with three "main street" business districts. Arlington's three neighborhood business districts – Arlington Center, Arlington Heights, and East Arlington – provide opportunities for shopping, dining, and recreation, and potentially more development and new growth. While 72% of Arlington's land use is residential, the Town is interested in attracting additional business to increase its commercial/industrial tax base and help resolve the structural deficit in its operating budget.

While Arlington is generally considered a relatively affluent community, approximately 5.5% of the population are considered to have income below the poverty level and a significant number of homeowners are considered to be house-rich but income-poor. The rising cost of housing in Arlington has made it challenging for some residents to remain in their homes and for others to purchase homes here. In November 2022, the Select Board approved the Arlington Affordable Housing Trust's Five-Year Action Plan which focuses on the Trust's principles, goals, and strategies related to affordable housing in Arlington.

Arlington is well integrated within the Boston metropolitan area via Routes 16, 2, 2A/ 3, 3A and 60 as well as through MBTA bus service and access to the MBTA commuter rail and subway transit in nearby Cambridge. Additionally, as the starting point of the Minuteman Bikeway, Arlington has tremendous infrastructure for people who wish to commute by bicycle or to cycle for leisure.

### **Departments**

Arlington's department heads and employees are collaborative and supportive of the Town's many initiatives. The [Health and Human Services](#) department, with 41 full-time and 13 part-time staff members, consists of the [Health Division](#); [Veterans Services](#); [Council on Aging](#); [Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Division](#); and the [Arlington Youth Counseling Center](#). The [Department of Public Works](#), with 80 full-time positions, has a new facility under construction and is working to replace aging water and sewer infrastructure, sidewalks, and roadways. [Planning & Community Development](#) has nine staff members overseeing planning and community development activities in town, including serving as liaisons to 35 committees. The [Fire Department](#) has 81 full-time employees. The Town's three fire stations have been remodeled over the past 12 years and are in good condition. The [Police Department](#) has 87 employees and logged 24,579 calls for service in 2021. The [Finance Department](#) team is well regarded and will assist the next Town Manager in developing the budget and managing finances. The [Robbins Library](#) has 24 full-time, 13 part-time, and 22 on-call employees working in its two facilities.

### **Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion**

The Town of Arlington recognizes and values diversity and strives to advance racial equity, promote a healthier and more inclusive community, and foster community engagement. Since June 2022, Arlington has been conducting a town-wide community equity audit to understand barriers to access for community members and strategies to promote more equitable community engagement. In 2021, the Town approved

an Indigenous Land Acknowledgement, which all Town entities are encouraged to read at the beginning of public meetings.

### **Climate and Resiliency Planning**

Arlington is a leader in mitigating climate change and adapting to its effects and has two staff members who work on climate issues. The Town participates in many climate change related campaigns, projects, and collaborations. In 2018, the Select Board approved a goal of having the Town become carbon neutral by 2050. Additionally, that same year, the Board set a target of net zero emissions of greenhouses gases. Some of the climate and resiliency campaigns and projects on which staff are currently working include: [Electrify Arlington](#), Net Zero by 2050; [Arlington Community Electricity](#); Charles River Climate Compact; Green Community Grants; Solar Panels on Municipal Rooftops; Electric Vehicle Charging Stations; and the [Resilient Mystic Collaborative](#).

### **Open Space and Recreation**

Arlington is a densely populated suburban community with few large open spaces remaining within its borders and limited direct access to open space resources in adjacent towns. The need to preserve, protect, and properly maintain existing open spaces and recreational resources is widely recognized and deeply felt by Arlington residents. The Town's fourth [Open Space and Recreation Plan](#) highlights accomplishments made over the prior seven years and challenges to meeting the increasing demands on limited public resources for outdoor recreation, such as bikeways, playing fields, playgrounds, and natural green spaces. Arlington is continuing its efforts to increase the amount of protected open space.

### **Ongoing Projects**

- Phase 1 work on the new \$291M Arlington High School has been completed and Phase 2 of construction is estimated to conclude in September 2023. The new school is expected to be completed in autumn 2024.
- The need for a Proposition 2½ override is expected within the next year or two. An \$5.5 million operational override was approved in June 2019.
- Seek development/redevelopment opportunities to increase the commercial/industrial tax base. Mixed-use development is being considered along Massachusetts Avenue and Broadway.
- Continue to build on Arlington's sustainability efforts, including work to increase bicycle & pedestrian safety.
- A new \$44 million DPW facility is under construction with completion scheduled for fall 2023.
- The Mass Ave/Appleton Safety & Accessibility Corridor Project to improve pedestrian and cyclist safety.
- Continuing to determine appropriate use of ARPA funding. Earlier this year, \$319,000 from ARPA funding was allocated toward affordable housing.

### **The Ideal Candidate**

- Bachelor's degree, preferably in a field related to public administration or business management; advanced degree preferred.
- Minimum of three years of significant municipal management or administrative experience.

- Skilled in community engagement, communications, financial management, personnel management, community and economic development, and project management.
- Exceptional leadership skills; creative thinker.
- Proficient background in municipal operations.
- Highly skilled at community engagement.
- Embraces the critical importance of increasing sustainability and climate resiliency.
- Recognizes and embraces the diversity of the community and supports the goals of diversity, equity, inclusion, belonging, and accessibility.
- Creates a welcoming environment for all.
- Recognizes and embraces the need for affordable and moderately priced housing.
- A strong communicator, both internally and externally; approachable; active listener.
- Data-driven decision making; analytical.
- Creates a vision for the future & secures buy-in.
- Embraces transparency in government.
- Values the uses of modern technologies.
- Experience in setting goals and priorities.
- Treats everyone fairly and respectfully.
- Skilled in long-term planning; organized.
- Forward thinking; proactive; strategic.
- Team-oriented; able to build morale.
- Knowledgeable of best practices.

**Important Links:**

- [Town of Arlington](#)
- [Town Bylaws](#)
- [Town Manager Act](#)
- [2021 Annual Town Report](#)
- [FY23 Annual Budget](#)
- [Select Board & Town Manager Goals](#)
- [Public Annual Financial Reports](#)
- [Projects, Plans, & Reports](#)
- [Arlington Master Plan Documents](#)
- [Arlington Master Plan](#)
- [Open Space & Recreation Plan](#)
- [Net Zero Action Plan](#)
- [Affordable Housing Trust Action Plan](#)
- [Hazard Mitigation Plan](#)

*Official copies of position descriptions are on file at the Human Resources Department*

\*\*\*

## Appendix Section A-2

### **TOWN MANAGER**

The Town Manager is in charge of the oversight of day-to-day operations of Town government and through the implementation of Town policy, the Office of the Town Manager strives to manage the effective, efficient, and sustainable delivery of services to the residents of Arlington and remains committed to the dissemination of public information in a transparent, accessible, and accurate manner. The Office of the Town Manager continuously evaluates functions of government and public services to maintain Arlington as a community that provides a high quality of life for residents and visitors alike.

### **BOARD ADMINISTRATOR**

The Board Administrator is responsible for administrating and supporting the operations of the Select Board. Supervisory of staff, customer service work with the residents, interaction with other Town Departments and outside agencies, and meeting management are part of everyday duties. Other requested duties include special projects, Town Day organization, proclamations, oversees license processing and renewals, town election warrants and election workers.

### **COMPTROLLER**

The Comptroller's Office is responsible for the Town's books of account and financial records, verifying appropriations for all purchase orders, processing invoices for payment, approval of all payrolls and other warrants, balancing monthly appropriation reports, and other financial reporting as governed by Federal and State governments. The Comptroller is responsible for the coordination of annual audits and direct management/supervision of the Telephone Department.

**Commented [AM29]:** Should I remove this?

**Commented [EH30R29]:** I would keep it since it's preserved elsewhere in the handbook and the comptroller is still ultimately approved by the SB.

### **ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS**

The Zoning Board of Appeals was established to hear and decide applications for special permits, petitions for variances from the terms of the zoning bylaws, site plan approvals as mandated by the zoning ordinance and appeals from decisions of the Zoning Enforcement Officer (Building Commissioner). The Board consists of five members and two associate members appointed by the Select Board, who shall designate the chair. All members of the Board shall be residents of the Town; one member must be an attorney-at-law, and at least one of the remaining members must be an architect, civil engineer, or master builder.

### **ACAC GRANTS ( FORMALLY ARLINGTON CULTURAL COUNCIL)**

The **Arlington Cultural Council** (ACC) receives an annual allotment of grant monies from the **Massachusetts Cultural Council** (MCC) to distribute locally. The ACC is committed to funding a diverse cross-section of activities that support a broad variety of art forms, ongoing work of individual artists, projects serving specific local populations and local cultural organizations. Meetings are held once a month and are open to the public. Members of the Council are volunteers appointed by the Arlington Select Board for up to two consecutive three-year terms. They consist of artists, arts administrators and other community members with an interest in the arts, humanities and interpretive

sciences. Grant applications are due by October 15. Determinations are made in December for projects beginning in January.

#### **PUBLIC MEMORIAL COMMITTEE**

Public Memorial Committee was established for the purpose of memorializing and officially recognizing those persons whose exemplary accomplishments have reflected credit and honor upon the Town of Arlington, in accordance with certain criteria established and set forth in writing by the Committee. Said Committee shall be the official source for memorialization of persons by the Town. The Committee shall consist of five registered voters of the Town, to be appointed by the Select Board. Two shall be appointed for a term of three years and two for a term of two years and one for a term of one year; all to serve until their respective successors are duly appointed and qualified.

#### **BOARD OF REGISTRARS OF VOTERS**

The Board of Registrars of Voters, ensures voter registration sessions. Registrars are required to receive affidavits of voter registration from registrants who reside in their city or town and from those who reside in any other city or town in the Commonwealth. For applications for other municipalities, the registrars must submit such completed affidavits to the registrars in the registrant's city or town.

Registrars must post a copy of the Massachusetts General Laws chapter 56, sections 7 (Aiding or abetting false oath, etc.) at every registration site, deliver absentee ballots to polling locations, and hold sessions for voter registration.

#### **HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION**

The Historic Districts Act, MGL Chapter 40C was created to protect and preserve the historic resources of the Commonwealth through a local review system that encourages and ensures compatible improvement and development. Over 100 communities across the Commonwealth have enacted local historic districts to protect their historic resources and ensure the preservation of the character of their community.

Arlington has seven established local historic districts that include over 300 properties that the community has recognized as unique resources worthy of protection. The seven districts are: Avon Place, Broadway, Central Street, Jason/Gray, Mount Gilboa/Crescent Hill, Pleasant Street, and Russell. The Arlington Historic Districts Commissions are required by law to review the architectural appropriateness of most proposed exterior design changes, whether they be a minor alteration, new additions, or removal of trim or structures. The commissions consist of qualified volunteers appointed by the Select Board and include a property owner or resident of each district, an architect, a real estate professional, and a representative from the Arlington Historical Society.

Please note that the AHDC has justification of all properties located within a designated local historic district. In addition to the seven local historic districts, a number of individual properties outside of the districts have been designated by Arlington as being historically and/or architecturally significant. These



individual properties outside the historic districts are overseen by the Arlington Historical Commission, *not* the Historic Districts Commissions.

#### **CYRUS E. DALLIN MUSEUM BOARD OF TRUSTEES**

The Museum's mission is to collect, preserve, protect, and exhibit the works of Cyrus E. Dallin and to educate the community about Cyrus E. Dallin.

#### **ARLINGTON PRESERVATION FUND**

The Arlington Preservation Fund, Inc. is a non-profit corporation whose principal purpose is to make low interest loans to owners of historically significant structures in the town of Arlington. Through these favorable loans, the Fund encourages the retention or restoration of appropriate exterior architectural details during both residential and commercial building projects. This revolving fund was initiated through the Federal Community Development Block Grant program and is now administered by a volunteer board of nine citizens appointed by the Select Board.

**Commented [HE31]:** Does this still exist, including the 9-person board? If not, we should remove it.

**Commented [AM32R31]:** Yes, this still exists looks like its handled through the Planning Department  
<http://www.arlingtonpreservation.org/>

**Commented [EH33R31]:** Interesting, thanks. Can you find out if the SB still appoints the board as it says here? If that is no longer current, we at least strike that part and maybe delete their listing here entirely.

#### **TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY COMMITTEE**

The Transportation Advisory Committee (TAC) was created to serve as an advisory committee on matters at the direction of the Select Board. To assist them in suggesting inventive ways to deal with the myriad of parking, traffic and transportation issues in the Town.

#### **BICYCLE ADVISORY COMMITTEE**

The Bicycle Advisory Committee (ABAC) was created to advise the Town on local bicycling conditions. The all-volunteer committee promotes all forms of safe bicycling on town roadways and the Minuteman Bikeway— from recreational riding to using the bicycle for transportation and errands.

#### **COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE**

The Community Preservation Committee, required by the CPA under MGL Chapter 44B, and formed by Town Meeting, is tasked with evaluating Arlington's needs in those three specific areas and making recommendations to Town Meeting on how CPA funding should be spent. Arlington voters approved adoption of the Community Preservation Act (CPA) in November 2014 with the Act to begin funding in FY2016. The Town of Arlington began collecting surcharge revenue on the August 3, 2015 tax bills and will continue collection on a quarterly basis. The committee consists of nine volunteers, including four members from the general public and a member from each of the following bodies: the Redevelopment Board, the Conservation Commission, the Historical Commission, the Parks and Recreation Commission, and the Housing Authority.

#### **ELECTION OFFICERS**

The election officers ensure adherence to the elections procedures and compliance with state election laws. Each precinct (there are twenty-one precincts) must have assigned to it a warden, clerk, inspectors,

**Commented [HE34]:** Edits to Election Officers here have been made in consultation with Juli Brazile and by referencing current Mass General Laws.

and (optionally) tellers. Within each precinct the election officers must equally represent the two leading political parties. However, two of the officers in each precinct may be unenrolled or members of political parties other than the leading ones.

#### **ARLINGTON COMMITTEE ON TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT**

The Arlington Committee on Tourism and Economic Development (A-TED) was created by the Select Board in 2010. It annually hosts an event to greet the Lancers as they re-create the rides of Revere and Dawes on Patriots Day and founded the Arlington Alive Arts Block Party, held each summer at Broadway Plaza. A-TED also manages the Visitor Information Center, located at Uncle Sam Plaza in Arlington Center.

#### **UTILITY POLE WORKING GROUP**

This working group will be made up of five residents-at-large. The charge of the working group will be to compile inventories of identified maintenance and/or safety issues relating to utility poles and overhead wires throughout town. This inventory shall be presented to the Select Board at least annually and will be transmitted by the Board to responsible utility providers for follow-up and further action, as described in relevant policies of the Select Board.

#### **CABLE ADVISORY COMMITTEE**

Members appointed by the Select Board, pursuant to Federal and State Cable Television Regulations to assist them with Cable Television licensing and renewal negotiations and any other cable television related issued referred by the Select Board.

#### **TREE COMMITTEE**

The Arlington Tree Committee consists of members with three-year terms. The Committee's mission is to promote the protection, planting, and care of trees in Arlington and supports Arlington's Tree Division.

\*\*\*

**Commented [HE35]:** Is this still around?

**Commented [AM36R35]:** Technically, yes they are still a committee. It has not been dissolved by Town Meeting but the committee has not met since 2013.

**Commented [EH37R35]:** We should probably fix that in Town Meeting but I guess leave it here for now.

## Appendix Section A-3

---

### **Town of Arlington Select Board Meeting Agenda**

### **Town of Arlington Select Board Meeting Agenda**

**Commented [AM38]:** I have inserted a new up to date agenda for reference

January 23, 2023

7:15PM

Members of the Public may access the hybrid meeting via Select Board Chambers, Zoom or ACMI.

1. Executive Order on Remote Participation
2. Proclamation Honoring Dan Shine

#### **FOR APPROVAL**

3. Arlington Education Foundation 5K Race on May 21, 2023  
Laura Fuller, Arlington Education Foundation

#### **CONSENT AGENDA**

4. Black History Month Banners  
Crystal Haynes, Arlington Human Rights Commissioner
5. Request: Special (One Day) Beer & Wine License, 01/28/2023 @ Robbins Memorial Town Hall for a Private Event  
Surendra Pokharel

#### **APPOINTMENTS**

6. Human Rights Commission (term to expire 06/30/2025)  
Kevin Bryant
7. Poet Laureate of Arlington (term to expire 01/31/2026)  
Jean Flanagan

## **OPEN FORUM**

Except in unusual circumstances, any matter presented for consideration of the Board shall neither be acted upon, nor a decision made the night of the presentation in accordance with the policy under which the Open Forum was established. It should be noted that there is a three minute time limit to present a concern or request.

## **TRAFFIC RULES & ORDERS / OTHER BUSINESS**

8. Recommendation: Transportation Advisory Commission Reports  
Laura Swan, TAC Chair  
Lenard T. Diggins, Chair
9. Discussion & Update: Fossil Fuel Infrastructure  
Douglas W. Heim, Town Counsel
10. Update: Long Range Plan  
Lenard T. Diggins, Chair  
Stephen W DeCoursey, Select Board Member
11. Update: Town Manager Search Process  
Lenard T. Diggins, Chair
12. Discussion & Potential Vote: Select Board Warrant Articles  
Lenard T. Diggins, Chair  
Douglas W. Heim, Town Counsel
13. Discussion & Potential Vote: Overnight Parking Pilot  
Lenard T. Diggins, Chair  
Stephen W. DeCoursey, Select Board Member  
Sandy Pooler, Town Manager
14. Discussion & Potential Vote: In Person Participation at Select Board Meetings  
Lenard T. Diggins, Chair

## **OPEN FORUM**

Except in unusual circumstances, any matter presented for consideration of the Board shall neither be acted upon, nor a decision made the night of the presentation in

accordance with the policy under which the Open Forum was established. It should be noted that there is a three minute time limit to present a concern or request.

### **CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED**

15. Save the Alewife Brook Letters to MassDEP, Mass Water Resources Authority

16. Mass Ave / Appleton Pedestrian Safety Concerns and Recommendations  
Petru Sofio  
8 Elmore Street

17. Recommendation: Magliozzi Boulevard  
Public Memorial Committee

18. Foot of the Rocks Master Plan  
Allan Tosti  
Foot of the Rocks Working Group

### **NEW BUSINESS**

Next Scheduled Meeting of Select Board February 6, 2023

You are invited to a Zoom webinar.

When: Jan 23, 2023 07:15 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada)

Topic: Select Board Meeting

Register in advance for this webinar:

[https://town-arlington-ma-us.zoom.us/webinar/register/W\\_N\\_9OU7bqrqSd6Be7ponLYCDg](https://town-arlington-ma-us.zoom.us/webinar/register/W_N_9OU7bqrqSd6Be7ponLYCDg)

After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the webinar.

\*Notice to the Public on meeting privacy\* In the interests of preventing abuse of videoconferencing technology (i.e. Zoom Bombing) all participants, including members of the public, wishing to engage via the Zoom App must register for each meeting and will notice multi-step authentication protocols. Please allow additional time to join the meeting. Further, members of the public who wish to participate without providing their name may still do so by telephone dial-in information provided above.

\*\*\*